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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

E. MISHAN & SONS, INC., 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

HALO2CLOUD, LLC, 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 

Jury Trial Demanded 

FEBRUARY 5, 2018 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff, E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. (“Emson”), by its attorneys, Notaro, Michalos & 

Zaccaria P.C., brings this action for patent infringement against Defendant, Halo2Cloud, 

LLC (“Halo2Cloud”). 

Nature of the Action 

1. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. 

§ 1, et seq., for infringement of United States Patent No. 9,534,752 and for infringement 

of United States Design Patent No. 804,070 (the “Asserted Patents”). 

Parties 

2. Plaintiff Emson is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of New York with its principal place of business at 230 Fifth Avenue, Suite 

800, New York, New York 10001. 
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3. On information and belief, Defendant Halo2Cloud is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, having a place of 

business at 148 Eastern Boulevard, Glastonbury, Connecticut 06033. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a). 

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Halo2Cloud because the claims 

asserted herein arose in this judicial district and/or because Halo2Cloud transacts 

business within this district and has committed infringing acts complained of hereinafter 

within this district, because Halo2Cloud derives substantial revenue from interstate 

commerce and has committed acts of patent infringement both within and without this 

district having injurious consequences within this district, and Halo2Cloud is otherwise 

within the jurisdiction of this Court.  Halo2Cloud has purposefully availed itself of this 

forum by, among other things, offering to sell and selling, and causing others to use, 

offering to sell, and selling infringing products in the State of Connecticut including in 

this judicial district and deriving revenue from such activities. 

6. Venue in this judicial district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b) because 

Halo2Cloud has committed acts of infringement in this district, and, on information and 

belief, has a regular and established place of business in this district.   
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Facts Pertaining to Emson’s Patents 

7. United States Patent No. 9,534,752 (“the ‘752 patent”), titled “Flexible two 

headed flashlight,” duly and legally issued on January 3, 2017.  A true and correct of the 

‘752 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

8. Plaintiff Emson is the owner by assignment of all right, title and interest in 

and to the ‘752 patent. 

9. The Abstract of the ‘752 patent reads as follows: “A flexible, two headed 

flashlight arrangement has a bendable elongated shaft with opposite ends, the shaft 

having a thin diameter of selected length and being bendable into any selected shape 

and a separate self-powered flashlight assembly fixed to each end of the shaft.  Each 

flashlight assembly comprising a housing containing an LED circuit with at least one 

LED, a switch having open and closed positions for respectively interrupting and 

passing electricity to the LED, and at least one battery for powering the LED when the 

switch is closed.”  Figure 1 of the ‘752 patent is reproduced below: 

10. United States Design Patent No. 804,070, titled “Flexible Flashlight,” duly 

and legally issued on November 28, 2017 (“the D‘070 patent”).  A true and correct of the 

D‘070 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
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11. Plaintiff Emson is the owner by assignment of all right, title and interest in 

and to the D‘070 patent. 

12. The D‘070 patent claims the ornamental design for a flexible flashlight as 

shown and described in the accompanying nine figures.  Figure 1 of the D‘070 patent is 

reproduced below: 

Facts Pertaining to Defendant Halo2Cloud 

13. Halo2Cloud imports, offers for sale, and sells in the United States a 

flashlight product under the name “HALO Flexlight.”  An image of a HALO Flexlight 

flashlight is reproduced below: 
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14. The instructions for a HALO Flexlight flashlight which are included in the 

product packaging describe the product as follows: “The HALO Flexlight is the most 

versatile flashlight yet!  With its 34 inch flexible gooseneck, these flashlights can be 

molded into any shape you need making it a great hands free tool.  Each end is 

equipped with a bright LED light and strong magnets which allows users to retrieve 

objects in hard to reach and dark areas.”   

15. Halo2Cloud offers for sale and sells HALO Flexlight flashlights in this 

judicial district and elsewhere throughout the United States. 

16. On information and belief, Halo2Cloud’s HALO Flexlight flashlight is 

offered for sale and sold in this judicial district on television cable channels and the 

website www.qvc.com. 

17. Halo2Cloud is not licensed or authorized by Emson to make, sell, offer to 

sell, use or import Halo2Cloud’s infringing HALO Flexlight flashlights. 

18. Halo2Cloud has had actual knowledge of the Asserted Patents since at 

least as early as its receipt of Emson’s correspondence to Halo2Cloud asserting that 

Halo2Cloud’s HALO Flexlight flashlights are covered by one or more claims of the 

Asserted Patents which, on information and belief, occurred on December 6, 2017. 

COUNT I - Claim for Infringement of the ‘752 patent

19. Emson realleges and incorporates by reference each of paragraphs 1 

through 18, above, as if fully set forth herein. 
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20. The table below demonstrates the complete correspondence between 

each and every element of Claim 1 of the ‘752 patent and Halo2Cloud’s HALO Flexlight 

flashlights: 

Correspondence of Claim 1 of the ‘752 patent to HALO Flexlight

HALO Flexlight Flashlight Images 
(Annotated with reference numbers corresponding to the ‘752 patent) 

U.S. Patent 9,534,752 HALO Flexlight

1. A flexible, two headed flashlight 

arrangement (10), comprising:  

10’, Fig. 1’. 

a bendable elongated shaft (12) having 

opposite ends, the shaft having a diameter 

of about 5 mm (about 3/16 inch) to about 10 

mm (about 3/8 inch) that is substantially 

constant between the opposite ends, a 

length of about 610 mm (about 24 inch) to 

about 1220 mm (about 48 inch), and being 

bendable into any selected shape; and 

HALO’s Flexlight has a bendable shaft 

with a substantially constant 9 mm 

diameter between opposite ends and a 

length of approximately 860 mm, and it 

is bendable into any shape. 
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a separate self-powered flashlight assembly 

(14) fixed to each end of the shaft (12), 

each flashlight assembly comprising a 

housing (16) containing an LED circuit with 

at least one LED (18), a switch (20) having 

open and closed positions for respectively 

interrupting and passing electricity to the 

LED (18) and at least one battery (22) for 

powering the LED when the switch is 

closed;  

HALO’s Flexlight has a separate self-

powered flashlight assembly 14’ fixed 

to each end of shaft 12’ as shown in 

Fig. 1’.  Each flashlight assembly of 

HALO’s Flexlight comprising a housing 

16’ (Figs. 2’ and 3’) containing an LED 

circuit 42’ with LEDs 18’, a switch 20’ 

for interrupting or passing electricity to 

LEDs 18’ and batteries 22’ for powering 

the LEDs 18’ when switch 20’ is closed 

(Figs. 2’ and 3’). 

each flashlight assembly housing (16) 

having one end fixed to one end of the shaft 

(12) and an opposite end, a lens (24) 

covering the opposite end of the housing 

and extending over the at least one LED, 

and a magnetic ring (40) around the lens 

(24) and in the opposite end of the housing. 

Each HALO Flexlight flashlight 

assembly housing 16’ is fixed to one 

end of shaft 12’ with a lens 24’ covering 

the housing’s opposite end and LEDs 

18’; magnetic ring 40’ surrounds lens 

24’ in the end of the housing (Figs. 2’ 

and 3’). 

21. Halo2Cloud’s HALO Flexlight flashlight is a flexible, two headed flashlight 

which infringes at least Claim 1 of the ‘752 patent. 

22. Halo2Cloud has infringed and continues to infringe the ‘752 patent, in 

violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by importing, offering for sale and selling HALO Flexlight 

flashlights that infringe the ‘752 patent. 

23. On information and belief, Halo2Cloud acted with full knowledge of the 

‘752 patent and without a reasonable basis for believing that it would not be liable for 

infringement of the ‘752 patent.  At minimum, Halo2Cloud was and continues to be 
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willfully blind to the existence of the ‘752 patent and continues to make, sell, offer for 

sale, import into the United States, its infringing HALO Flexlight flashlights. 

24. Halo2Cloud has engaged in egregious infringing behavior with knowledge 

of the ‘752 patent, which has been duly issued by the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office, and is presumed valid.  On information and belief, Halo2Cloud has 

known or should have known that its actions constituted and continue to constitute 

infringement of the ‘752 patent and that the ‘752 patent is valid, at least as of the date 

Halo2Cloud was notified by Emson that its HALO Flexlight flashlights infringe at least 

one claim of the ‘752 patent.  Halo2Cloud could not reasonably, subjectively believe that 

its actions do not constitute infringement of the ‘752 patent, nor could it reasonably, 

subjectively believe that the ‘752 patent is invalid.  Despite that absence of knowledge 

and subjective belief, and the objectively high likelihood that its actions constitute 

infringement, Halo2Cloud has continued its infringing activities.  As such, Halo2Cloud 

willfully infringes the ‘752 patent. 

25. Emson is entitled to damages for Halo2Cloud’s infringement of the ‘752 

patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284. 

26. On information and belief, Halo2Cloud’s infringement of the ‘752 patent 

will continue until restrained and enjoined by this Court. 

27. Halo2Cloud’s infringement of the ‘752 patent has caused and, unless 

enjoined and restrained by this Court, will continue to cause, irreparable injury to Emson 

not fully compensable in monetary damages and for which Emson has no adequate 

remedy at law.  Emson is therefore entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctions 

enjoining Halo2Cloud from further infringement of the ‘752 patent. 
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COUNT II - Claim for Infringement of the D‘070 patent 

28. Emson realleges and incorporates by reference each of paragraphs 1 

through 26, above, as if fully set forth herein. 

29. The table below compares exemplary figures of the D‘070 patent with 

exemplary images of Halo2Cloud’s HALO Flexlight flashlight: 

D‘070 Patent HALO Flexlight 
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30. Halo2Cloud has infringed and continues to infringe the D‘070 patent, in 

violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by importing, offering for sale and selling HALO Flexlight 

flashlights that infringe the D‘070 patent. 

31. On information and belief, Halo2Cloud acted with full knowledge of the 

D‘070 patent and without a reasonable basis for believing that it would not be liable for 

infringement of the D‘070 patent.  At minimum, Halo2Cloud was and continues to be 

willfully blind to the existence of the D‘070 patent and continues to make, sell, offer for 

sale, import into the United States, its infringing HALO Flexlight flashlights. 

32. Halo2Cloud has engaged in egregious infringing behavior with knowledge 

of the D‘070 patent, which has been duly issued by the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office, and is presumed valid.  On information and belief, Halo2Cloud has 

known or should have known that its actions constituted and continue to constitute 

infringement of the D‘070 patent and that the D‘070 patent is valid, at least as of the 

date Halo2Cloud was notified by Emson that its HALO Flexlight flashlights infringe the 

D‘070 patent.  Halo2Cloud could not reasonably, subjectively believe that its actions do 

not constitute infringement of the D‘070 patent, nor could it reasonably, subjectively 

believe that the D‘070 patent is invalid.  Despite that absence of knowledge and 

subjective belief, and the objectively high likelihood that its actions constitute 

infringement, Halo2Cloud has continued its infringing activities.  As such, Halo2Cloud 

willfully infringes the D‘070 patent. 

33. Emson is entitled to damages for Halo2Cloud’s infringement of the D‘070 

patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284. 

Case 3:18-cv-00214-MPS   Document 1   Filed 02/05/18   Page 11 of 14



-11- 

34. Emson is entitled to an award of the total profits realized by Halo2Cloud 

from its infringement of the D‘070 patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 289. 

35. On information and belief, Halo2Cloud’s infringement of the D‘070 patent 

will continue until restrained and enjoined by this Court. 

36. Halo2Cloud’s infringement of the D‘070 patent has caused and, unless 

enjoined and restrained by this Court, will continue to cause, irreparable injury to Emson 

not fully compensable in monetary damages and for which Emson has no adequate 

remedy at law.  Emson is therefore entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctions 

enjoining Halo2Cloud from further infringement of the D‘070 patent. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. respectfully requests that this Court enter 

judgment in its favor, against Halo2Cloud, LLC, and grant the following relief: 

A. A judgment that Halo2Cloud, LLC has infringed and is infringing each of 

the Asserted Patents under 35 U.S.C. § 271; 

B. A judgment awarding damages adequate to compensate E. Mishan & 

Sons, Inc. for Halo2Cloud, LLC’s infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 284, including 

prejudgment and post-judgment interest, costs, and damages for any post-verdict 

infringement occurring prior to entry of a final judgment; 

C. A judgment that Halo2Cloud, LLC’s infringement of the Asserted Patents 

has been willful and awarding E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. treble damages under 35 U.S.C. § 

284; 
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D. A judgment awarding E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. the total profits realized by 

Halo2Cloud, LLC from its infringement of the D‘070 patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 289; 

E. Issue preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining Halo2Cloud, LLC 

and its officers, agents, servants, employees and attorneys, and all other persons acting 

in concert or participation with any of them, from directly or indirectly infringing the 

Asserted Patents in any manner; 

F. A judgment that this is an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and 

awarding E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

G. A judgment awarding E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. its costs under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1920; and 

H. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper and just.  

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

E. Mishan & Sons, Inc. hereby requests a trial by jury of all issues so triable. 
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Dated: February 5, 2018 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Nuala E. Droney
Nuala E. Droney 
James R. Nault 
Robinson & Cole LLP 
280 Trumbull Street 
Hartford, Connecticut 06103 

John Zaccaria (To Be Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
Peter Bucci (To Be Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
Notaro, Michalos & Zaccaria P.C. 
100 Dutch Hill Road, Suite 240 
Orangeburg, New York 10962 
Tel: (845) 359-7700 
Fax: (845) 359-7798 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
E. Mishan & Sons Inc.
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